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Chapter One 

1. INTRODUCTION 
Tobar Archaeological Services 

 

BACKGROUND TO THE PROJECT 

 

Terms of Reference 

This Conservation, Management and Interpretation  Plan for Bandon Town Wall has been 

prepared by Tobar Archaeological Services and Carrig Conservation for Cork County Council 

and the Irish Walled Towns Network through the Heritage Council. Tobar Archaeological 

Services and Carrig were appointed in October 2012. The steering group consisted of Conor 

Nelligan, Conservation officer Cork County Council, Liam Mannix, The Heritage Council, Cllr. 

Gillian Coughlan, Maria McLoughlin McLaughlin, (IWTN), Carrig Conservation and Tobar 

Archaeological Services.  

 

Consultancy Group 

The consultants consisted of the following : 

¶ Annette Quinn, Tobar Archaeological Services 

¶ Miriam Carroll, Tobar Archaeological Services 

¶ Mary-Liz McCarthy, Carrig Conservation 

¶ Hugh Kavanagh, Landmark Survey (Measured survey drawings including Figs. 1-3 

and 7-15) 

 

Context of the Town Walls 

Bandon town walls are of national significance, but their  potential as a major heritage asset 

for the town has not yet been fully exploited. Bandon is now part of the Irish Walled Towns 

Network (IWTN). The IWTN is an initiative of the Heritage Council in partnership  with the 

Dept. of Environment, Fáilte Ireland and the Northern Ireland Environment Agency. Its 

purpose is to unite and co-ordinate the strategic efforts of Local Authorities involved in the 

management and conservation of historic walled towns. Bandon joined the IWTN 2012 

2008.  

The development of a plan for the town is in accordance with Key Action 3 of the Irish 

Walled Towns Network 3 Year Action Plan 2011 ï 2013.  

The purpose of this Conservation, Management and Interpretation  Plan is to provide a 

reference document which should be central in planning all future work to the walls. 
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Cultural Tourism  is one of the fastest growing international industries and both the Irish  

Government and Fáilte Ireland have identified this sector as potential driver for the recov ery 

of our failed weak economy. ñTarget Destinationsò have been identified by F§ilte Ireland as 

the way forward and Bandon could be such a product due to its history associated to place, 

people and the 17th century structure of the town. T he town walls if utili sed properly could 

be a key factor in achieving this. The key aims of this conservation, management and 

interpretation  plan are as follows: 

¶ improving public awareness, knowledge and appreciation of the Walls 

 

¶ identifying issues for development control and for futur e development along the 

circuit such as ACAs  

 

¶ short and long term management of the Walls  

 

¶ defining clear guiding principles against which any new development proposals or 

new ways of using the Walls can be evaluated 

 

¶ identification, following a condition survey, of areas of the Walls in need of attention 

(with  recommendations for the repair, conservation and protection of the Walls 

within a phased programme) 

 

¶ the preparation of initiatives for access, interpretation and education related to the 

Walls and their setting.  

 

The Conservation Plan should not be an end in itself but seen rather as a management tool 

for the future.  
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Site Location 

Bandon (Droichead na Bandan) is located in West County Cork approximately 27km south-

west of Cork City on the N71 (Figure 1). As the Irish name suggests it translates as Bridge 

of the River (Bandon), the bridge being a reference to the town as a crossing point on the 

river. The town is often referred to as óThe Gateway to West Corkô, and recorded a 

population of 6640 in the 2011 census. The town was walled in the 17 th century during the 

Plantation of Munster when English settlers occupied the area. During the 19 th century the 

town grew as a major industrial centre which include d brewing, tanning, distilling, corn and 

cotton milling. The industrial revolution in the 1800s and the advent of the railway system 

had a profound effect on the physical appearance and 17th century character of the town 

and it is perhaps for this reason t hat so little of the walled defences now remains.   

 

 

 
Figure 1: Site Location Map.  
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Statutory Context and Designations 

 

Legislation and policy governing the protection of Town Walls 

 

Legislation  

National Monuments Acts 1930 (amendments to the principal act 1954, 1987, 1994 and 2004). 

Town defences or town walls are now regarded as National Monuments under the terms of 

the Act and amendment acts. It is not a National Monument in State Care or Guardianship 

but rather subject to ministerial direction under the National Monuments Acts by virtue of its 

ownership by the Local Authority. The Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht 

require Ministerial Consent for all work carried out at or within close proximity to the town 

defences. This requirement for Ministerial Consent also applies to sections of the walls within 

private ownership and those which are sub-surface. 

In accordance with Section 14 of the National Monuments Act 1930, as amended, where a 

National Monument (such as town walls), of which the Minister or a Local Authority are the 

owners or guardians, or that have been subject of a Preservation Order, Ministerial Consent 

is required in order to:  

 

¶ Demolish or remove it wholly or in part or to disfigure, deface, alter or in any manner 

injure or interfere with it, or  

 

¶ To excavate, dig, plough or otherwise disturb the ground within around or in 

proximity to, or  

 

¶ To sell it or any part of it for exportation or to export it or any part of it  

The Planning and Development Act 2000-2002 

This act provides for the establishment of the County Development Plans and Local Area 

Plans. Part IV of the Planning Act requires:  

 

¶ that the Planning Authority have a clear obligation regarding the creation of the 

Record of Protected Structures which in their opinion are of special architectural, 

historical, artistic, archaeological, scientific or social merit. The record forms part of 

the Planning Authorities County Development Plan.  

 

¶ That the Planning Authority are obliged to preserve the char acter of places and 

townscapes which are of special architectural, historical, artistic, archaeological, 

scientific or social merit by designating the towns Architectural Conservation Areas 

(ACAs) in their development plans.  
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The Bandon town walls are not currently listed in the Record of Protected Structures for 

County Cork. It is also noteworthy  that while the town walls  mainly lie either within or 

along the Bandon ACA boundaries, that a portion of the western line of the town wall 

including the surviving tower in the River Bandon is excluded from the ACA. The omitted 

section of the town wall on the western side of the town, just north of the Bandon River, 

should be included in the ACA in next County Development Plan as it relates directly to 

the historic town. Similarly, the town walls should be considered for inclusion in the 

Record of Protected Structures.    
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Figure 2: ACA map of Band on showing line of town wall . Note western line of town wall outside Christchur ch ACA.
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Record of Monuments and Places (RMP)  

Bandon town wall is also a Recorded Monument which affords it further statutory protection. 

The Record of Monuments and Places is a statutory list of monuments which was 

established under Section 12 of the National Monuments Amendment Act (1994). The town 

defences in Bandon have been designated a separate RMP number CO110-019-014 (Town 

Defences, Gully townland).  
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Figure 3: Recorded Monuments  adjacent to  and within  town walls.  
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Arc haeological Policy  

In 1999 two significant documents were published by the state which outlined the 

governmentôs policy in relation to the protection of archaeological heritage and the 

conducting of archaeological excavations.  

¶ Framework and Principles for the Protection of the Archaeological Heritage  

¶ Policy and Guidelines on Archaeological Excavations 

These documents clearly outline the basic principles of National Policy on the protection of 

the archaeological heritage and reflect the obligations on the State under the European 

Convention on the Protection of the Archaeological Heritage.  

The National Policy on Town Defences (2008) was published by the then Department of 

Environment, Heritage and Local Government (now Department of Arts, Heritage and the 

Gaeltacht, DoAHG). It addresses issues relating to the protection and conservation of town 

defences which are National Monuments. Of relevance to Bandon is that both the known 

and expected circuits of the defences and all their associated structures are to be considered 

a single National Monument and treated as a single unit for policy and management 

purposes.    

Plan ning Policy  

A number of planning policies which provide further guidance on the preservation and 

promotion of historic monuments and their se ttings are outlined below. Further guiding 

conservation policies such as the Burra Charter are discussed in Chapter 7 Conservation 

Policies and Actions.  

 

The National Heritage Plan - Department of Arts, Heritage, Gaeltacht and the Islands (2002). 

This plan prioritises the increasing of community ownership of heritage by: 

¶ Empowering local communities to become more involved in heritage issues 

¶ Enhancing the role and resources of local authorities in the protection of heritage  

¶ Setting up local heritage for a fora through the Local Authorities 

¶ Identify the way forward through the preparation of Local Heritage Plans.  

The Irish Walled Towns Network 3 -Year Action Plan 2011-2013  

The Heritage Council (2005) - directly concerned with walled towns, their promotion and 

resources required for their care.  This Conservation, Management and Interpretation plan is 

being prepared as part of the 3 year action plan  for Bandon town walls. 

The National Development Plan (2007-2013)  

Sets out a blueprint for economic and  social development with detail on spatial planning, 

support infrastructure, environmental sustainability and economic growth. 

The County Development Plan (2009-2014), Cork County Council  

Chapter 7.3 on archaeological heritage states the following: 

¶ that within the Recor d of Monuments and Places a number of areas have been 

designated as Zones of Archaeological Potential. The towns of Bandon , Buttevant, 
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Castlemartyr, Clonakilty, Cloyne, Cobh, Fermoy, Glanworth, Inishannon Innishannon, 

Kinsale, Liscarroll, Macroom, Mallow, Midleton, Rosscarbery, Skibbereen and Youghal 

have been designated as Zones of Archaeological Potential.  

 

¶ Various types of development can have visual or physical impacts on archaeological 

heritage. It is important that this heritage be protected, in particular durin g a time of 

increasing development arising from our economic success. Previously unidentified 

archaeological sites may be uncovered during construction works including drainage 

schemes or road making. Archaeological deposits, which may be damaged by the 

development, must be investigated and recorded in great detail.  

 

 

¶ Occasionally archaeological excavation may be inappropriate, the archaeology may 

be preserved in-situ and the development proposals are consequently altered. Cork 

County Council has its own archaeological expertise to advise on any matters relating 

to archaeological heritage. The Council will also have regard to recommendations of 

the Cork Historic Monuments Advisory Committee and the Department of the 

Environment, Heritage and Local Government.  

 

¶ Cork County Council has an important role to play in promoting initiatives aimed at 

raising awareness of archaeological heritage and to facilitate access to National 

Monuments in State and Local Authority ownership.  

 

The County Development Plan also allows for the expansion of ACAs and variation to ACAs. 

It is a recommendation of this plan that the entire circuit of the town wall be included within 

the ACA for Bandon in order to ensure more planning control in the areas adjacent to the 

town defences.  

 

Bandon Electoral Area Local Area Plan 2011  

In the section on Built Heritage the Plan states the following in relation to same:  

Built Heritage 

1.2.34. Because of its recognised importance from an historic and architectural perspective, 

the County Council has designated much of the older part of the town centre as an 

Architectural Conservation Area. Details of this can be found in Volumes 2 & 3 of the Cork 

County Development Plan 2009. 

1.2.35. Throughout the town as a whole, there are 54 buildings or other  structures entered 

in the initial Record of Protected Structures. The Record of Monuments and Places 

designates part of the town as a Zone of Archaeological Importance. 
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1.2.36. Careful conservation of the built heritage linked to sensitive and appropriate  new 

development has the potential to deliver a high quality and unique town centre for the 

future.  

1.2.37. The Bandon Action Programme (2008) identified a proposal to promote the historic 

town wall as a central part of the physical heritage of the town. I t puts forward an 

improvement programme, which includes a number of ways of raising the awareness of the 

town wall. These include a town wall walk; feature markets, public art and plaques in 

conjunction with walks; and paving / lighting / plate markers whe re it crosses roads and 

footways. 

 

No policies or objectives specific to the Town Defences are outlined in the LAP. 

 

Methodology 

The methodology of this conservation, management and interpretation plan was essential in 

the study of Bandon town walls as a complex and composite monument, particularly given 

the significantly altered environment in which it now exists. To achieve a structured 

approach in the methodology, a model developed by James Kerr (2010, 8) on how to 

develop a Conservation Management Plan was utilised (Figure 4).  
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Figure 4: Model by Kerr (2010, 8).  

 

The methodology employed for the plan ensured that the cultural and historical significance 

of the walled town was realised through a thoroug h historical and archaeological analysis. 

The vulnerability of that significance could then be identified so that policies for the 

appropriate protection and management of the town walls could be devised in addition to 

suitable policies for the management and conservation of those physical attributes of the 

site that contribute to its significance. Consultation with current stakeholders was also 

essential to the process of understanding how the town walls are currently used and 

appreciated locally. A plan for the implementation of the identified, required conservation 

and interpretation actions could then be devised to ensure the protection and appropriate 

enhancement of Bandon town walls both in the short, medium, and long term.  
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Limitations 

A number of limitations were evident from an initial survey of  Bandon town walls. Realising 

the limitations themselves assisted and enabled the authors to understand the key 

conservation, management and interpretation issues in need of urgent redress. The main 

limitations to the project are as follows:  

Site survey access and health and safety issues with wall in its present condition  

A large portion of the wall or the suspected line of the wall is located within private 

property. This presents difficulties both in terms of site survey and the eventual presentation 

of the wall. Portions of some sections of the wall were not accessible for visual inspection or 

survey given their location in private property (e.g. Section 10, Section 6 and po rtions of 

Section 13). Dense vegetation cover was also a limitation for survey of the wall, particularly 

Section 5, west end of Section 6, Section 13, Section 14 and Section 19. Health and safety is 

also an issue in a number of places mainly due to its proximity to the Bandon River (Sections 

1 and 22) and also the sheer drop that exists behind and to the north of Chris t Church 

(Section 14). This is also the case along the southern side of the town (Section 9) where 

masonry from the original wall and/or rebuilt wall has collapsed into rear garden plots.  

Lack of visibility of the town wall to the public  

Although the town wall is extant in a number of places which are visible to the public , its 

presence has not been fully exploited in a way that the local audience can appreciate. Large 

sections of the wall are not currently accessible or visible to the public. Where visible its 

meaning and significance has not been enhanced or promoted through appropriate 

interpretation. This overall lack of visibility locally does not allow for a full underst anding of 

the town wall by the local audience or visitors alike.   

Lack of understanding of audience regarding significance of town wall  

This mainly relates to the lack of information  available to the local audience and to potential 

future visitors to the t own. A number of key interpretative actions will be presented in t his 

Plan in order to ensure that any surviving remains will be preserved into the future and that 

the significance of the wall within the context of the 17 th century town will be realised.  

No developed tourism infrastructure within Bandon (information leaflets, formal way -marked 

walks, no visible historical / archaeological remains) 

This is also related to the latter point (see above). A gain this plan will provide guidance on 

actions which can be taken in order to maximise the surviving remains and to use the wall 

as a tourist attraction whilst adhering to the best p ractice conservation measures.  

The geography of the Town Wall 

The layout of the town in its current setting is such that it is divided approximately centrally 

by the large River Bandon and also by the smaller River Bridewell. The extent of the original 

town wall and town defences in comparison to other walled towns in Ireland is large, 

encompassing 16.5 hectares. It is difficult t herefore to appreciate a sense of óenclosureô from 

within the town itself. This presents challenges in terms of the ultimate presentation of the 

walls themselves and the idea of a ówalled townô.
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Chapter Two 

2. SITE HISTORY AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL 

POTENTIAL 
 

HISTORY  

Carrig Conservation  

The Munster Plantation 

The Munster Plantation of the 1580s was the first mass plantation in Ireland.  It was 

instituted as punishment for the Desmond Rebellions against English interference in 

Munster. The Desmond dynasty was annihilated in the aftermath of the Second Desmond 

Rebellion (1579ï83) and following the death in rebellion of the Earl of Desmond, the 

escheated land in the province were designated for English settlers. In 1584, the Surveyor 

General of Ireland, Sir Valentine Browne and a commission surveyed Munster and thirty -five 

main estates, or seignories as they were called, were formed from the confiscated portions 

and awarded to prominent gentlemen who undertook to settle a stipulated number of 

families within seven years. These men were known as Undertakers. It was hoped that the 

settlement would attract 15,000 colonists. Some of the very early plans for the Plantation 

included the establishment of large villages on each seignory and a market town for nine 

seignories. The Undertakers were also supposed to provide for the defence of planted 

districts from attack. However, on establishment of the plans, all urban planning was 

dropped as too difficult and expensive for settlers.  

A report from 1589  showed that the undertakers  had imported only in the region of 700 

English tenants between them. It has been suggested that each tenant was the head of a 

household, and that he therefore represents 4 -5 other people. This would put the English 

population in Munster at nearer to three  or four thousand which is still substantially below 

the anticipated figure of 15,000.  

The Plantation was supposed to produce compact defensible settlements, but the reality was 

that the seignories were spread in pockets across the province, wherever land had been 

confiscated. This was far from the neat rectangles of land portrayed in the early plan.  

Initially the Undertakers were given detachments of English soldiers to protect the 

settlements, but these were abolished in the 1590s. As a result, when the Nine Years War 

came to Munster in 1598, most of the settlers were chased off their lands without a fight. 

They took refuge in the province's walled towns or fled back to England. However when the 

rebellion was put down in 1601ï03, the Plantation was re-constituted by the Governor of 

Munster, George Carew. 



24 
  

Following the reversal of the 1598 Rebellion, there was surprise at the lack of planning 

regulations for buildings or towns in the first plantation. The haphazard spread of the 

seignories themselves precluded an orderly row of towns, even if the newcomers had 

possessed the means and ability to establish tem them. As for security, the settlers could 

and did fall back to the old English walled towns which remained loyal throughout the nine 

years war, as mentioned above. Several senior officials, unable to grasp the deep divisions 

between urban and old country English, had doubted the Munster townsô loyalty in this war 

and constantly predicted disaffection. After 1603, there continued a vague yet persistent 

desire to create an alternative refuge for the planters, a town which would be exclusively 

English. Hence it would have to be a new creation, not the expansion of an existing 

settlement.  

In Munster only one town fulfilled these plannersô hopes - Bandon or Bandonbridge. The 

townôs closest historical affinities were the towns in the most successful of the plantations ï 

the Ulster Plantation. 

Foundation of Bandon 

The Bandon River bisected the Barony Kilnalmeaky and after confiscation marked the 

division between Phane Becherôs seignory to the south and Sir Richard Grenvilleôs to the 

north. Some of Becherôs seignory did stretch north of the river including a portion at the 

townland of Coolfadda. Initially, neither undertaker succeeded in attracting many settlers. 

However following the defeat of the Gaelic forces at Kinsale in 1601, the way was open for 

sustained and intensive English settlement.  

A bridge very probably already existed on the site of the town of Bandon given that the Irish 

name for Bandonbridge was Droichead Uí Mhallaghamhna. More than a year after its 

incorporation as Bandonbridge in 1613, the town was referred to by a new Englishman as 

Mahon-bridge. Drohid-Mahon was still the customary name used by Irish locals in the 1860s. 

There might have been a small Irish settlement associated with the bridge before the 

settlers arrived, though corroborating evidence is lacking. If it did exist, the inhabitants were 

soon to be dispersed. 

In March 1604 Henry Becher, son of the original grantee, leased most of his seignory to 

William Newce and John Archdeacon for 31 years. Soon after this, Archdeacon assigned his 

lands to John Shipward. Newce controlled most of the site north of the rive r with Shipward 

controlling that to the south. Henry Becher retained the inheritance of most of both portions 

and also held other small pieces of land, some on leases from Irish freeholders who had 

escaped confiscation in the 1580s. Between them these three claim to be the founders of 

Bandon. However, it is likely that they viewed the town as a speculative venture and not as 

an element in any grand plan. 

The town of Bandon began to develop during the first decade of the seventeenth century 

with a town first  mentioned on the south side of the bridge. The earliest evidence of the 

emerging town is an impressionistic small-scale map from that decade showing a bridge 

spanning the river with 18 houses nearby, 12 of them on the north side of the river. In 1610 

Henry Becher was granted a market for óthe town lately built on the south side of the River 

Bandonô. 
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Newce directly owned the land at Coolfadda which put him in a stronger position than 

Shipward for developing a settlement. In 1595 Coolfadda had been granted b y Becher to an 

Englishman whose descendent sold it to Shipman. Shipman, in turn, sold it to Newce in 

1608. Newceôs possession allowed him to grant extremely long leases at low rates in order 

to entice suitable tenants. These tenants were obliged to build h ouses in the English style 

and by 1611 31 leases had been awarded. Shipman, on the other hand, offered leases for 

35 years. 

Coolfadda became an independent manor in due course and in 1613 both Coolfadda (north) 

and Bandon Bridge (south) were incorporated as a single municipal and parliamentary 

borough in 1613. 

The morphologies of the early settlements on either side of the river are unclear. A plan of 

the northern town by Christopher Jefford, probably drawn in 1613, shows a compact 

rectangular grid-iron settlement of some 360 houses with a market place and market cross, 

a sessionôs house and a church. There is a substantial wall on the three non-river sides of 

the town with bastions, fortified gateways and an outer ditch. There are also two forts, one 

for th e lord president of Munster to the west of the town and the other ï óCarewôs old fortô, 

probably dating from Sir George Carewôs tenure of this office in the early 1600s ï just within 

the eastern perimeter wall. However, it appears that this plan was simply  a blueprint for the 

future and not a reflection of the townôs appearance in 1613. The only man-made features 

that were certainly erected by 1613 are the bridge, Carewôs fort and a minority of Jeffordôs 

streets, notably the ancestor of Kilbrogan Hill and North Main Street whose present course is 

convincingly anticipated in the plan. 

In 1611 Newce recommended walling the town. His plan called for every ploughland in 

Munster to pay five shillings over two years, the proceeds of which Newce would use to 

construct not only suitable walls but a house for the Lord President as well as market and 

session houses. The wall shown on Jeffordôs plan is presumably that proposed by Newce; 

however whether any of it had been built before 1613 is uncertain. There is referenc e to 

someone being rated for a house outside the West Gate in 1616, but other evidence for the 

building of the walls having commenced by this time is not available. It was not until a new 

more substantial owner appeared, willing to shoulder part of the fin ancial burden himself 

that the proposal of walling the town began to be implemented.  
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The Plot of the Towne of Bandon Bridge...as it is entended to be bulyte, 1613.  By 

Christopher Jefford. 

Richard Boyle and the Building of the Walls 

Richard Boyle, later the Earl of Cork, was seventeenth-century Irelandôs leading 

entrepreneur. By the early 1600s he had established himself in the Youghal-Lismore area 

where he acquired the lands originally granted to Sir Walter Raleigh. He then decided to 

turn his attentions  to the west of the county with his first purchases west of Cork city being 

in the seignory of Kerrycurrihy. In 1612 he bought Newceôs share of Becherôs lease at 

Bandon and the following year he was granted a market and fairs at Coolfadda. He also 

acquired the principal freehold interests on both sides of the river ï Becherôs on the north 

side before 1614 and Shipwardôs on the south in 1618. He also acquired several leaseholds 

south of Bandon in 1615, Richard Grenvilleôs seignory south-east of the town in 1 623, and 

territory to the north -east owned by the bishop of Cork. 

By 1630 Boyle controlled a vast wedge of territory from Enniskeen in the west to Carrigaline 

on the Cork Harbour in the east. Bandon lay almost in the geographical centre of these 

properties and from now on its fortunes were meshed with the evolution, maturation and 

decline of one of Irelandôs largest estates.  

Boyle developed his new territories by promoting agricultural production, rural housing, 

trade, mining, quarrying, milling and New En glish urban settlement. He never lived in 
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Bandon and it is hard to explain why he invested so much capital in it. The town did not 

have natural advantages and leases within it were a complex and untidy mess. However this 

did not deter Boyle and within a de cade he had fused the two embryonic settlements into 

one of Munsterôs most interesting and unusual towns. 

Although he only acquired the north town initially, he soon set about making improvements 

which suggest an early decision to make Bandon the headquarters of his western estates. 

Following his acquirement of title of virtually the whole town in 1618, Boyle set about 

implementing the long-planned walling of the town. Newceôs suggestion of a voluntary 

ploughland contribution was put in motion with varied s uccess. It is not certain how much 

was collected but it would not have been sufficient to cover the cost of erecting the walls.  

According to Boyleôs diaries, the first stone for the walls was laid in June 1620 by Richard 

Crofts. In 1622 Croft was replaced by John Lodden as the mason in 1622. Boyle paid his 

masons £7 per perch, which for 362 perches (Bandonôs walled circumference) produced an 

outlay of £2,534. Most of the sum was paid directly by Boyle, though how much was 

recouped from the ploughland tax is  not recorded. In addition to the walls, three gatehouse 

castles, each with 26 rooms, were built at an estimated cost of £2,500 along with three 

postern gates and six flankers. Boyle estimated that the total cost of the whole works was 

£6000. 

Two anonymous maps probably dating to 1620 show Boyleôs original plan for the defence of 

Bandon on both sides of the river. These maps show a larger and more regular walled 

enclosure than was actually built and a more extensive and elaborate street plan, especially 

on the north side, than ever existed on the ground. The fortifications on these plans were 

outdated even by early seventeenth-century standards. The circular bastions were less 

easily defended than the angle bastions which were appearing in other towns and th ey were 

too small in relation to the length of the wall to allow adequate manoeuvrability to their 

guns. In this respect Jeffordôs earlier plan was actually more ómodernô, as it suggested large 

angle bastions. The style, dimensions and construction of the gatehouses at Bandon were 

also more in keeping with medieval than with early modern practice, as their height would 

have made them vulnerable to attack from seventeenth -century canon.  
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Two anonymous plans dating to 1620 illustrating the wall town of B andon 

 

The alignment of the walls as finally built can be traced from the stylised picture plan drawn 

as part of the Down Survey in 1656, from a terrier of c.1750, from a survey of Bandon by 

Bernard Scalé in 1775, and from information later collected by t he Ordnance Survey, as well 

as from the fragments that have survived until the present day. These sources show a very 

different perimeter from that proposed c.1620, but it is subject to the same criticisms, and 

suffered the further disadvantage of followin g a course which by its irregularity would have 

restricted the spread of fire from the bastions. The differences between plan and reality are 

due to physiographical constraints and the failure of the town to reach its expected size. 

There were also two churches, both on sites apparently chosen before the walls begun, 

which had to be included in the enclosure. The wall varied in effectiveness as a defensive 

barrier. In some places it took tactical advantage of the tributary valley slopes, elsewhere it 

was overlooked by higher ground. Its height seems to have varied from about 25ft to less 

than 8ft . The area enclosed was approximately 27 statute acres. 

The Down Survey illustration of Bandon should be viewed as a stylised reproduction of the 

walled town rather than the reality of the complete walled town.  
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Extract from the Down Survey by William Petty 

c.1656 óThe Barony of Carbury in the County 

of Corkeô 

Bandon, 1775, by Bernard Scalé. 

 

By 1622 it was reported by commissioners surveying the Munster plantation that óa tenth or 

eleventh part of the wall was brought to its full height and the other half about the height of 

twelve feetô. The walls were completed by 1627, though work on the gatehouses and other 

refinements continued well into the 1630s. In 1629 R obert Belcher was contracted for the 

carpentry of the gates. The walls were built of thick black slate, quarried at Ballylangley and 

Coolfadda. The completed wall had flankers at each external angle.  

Besides the fortifications, Boyle also commissioned identical improvements in the southern 

half of the town to those already performed in the north, i.e. new market and session 

houses, and in the 1630s paid for a school and almshouses.  

Seventeenth-Century Bandon 

Seventeenth-century contemporary opinions of early Bandon were generally favourable. As 

early as 1611 it was described as óa thing of importanceô. In 1622 it was ólarge and beautifulô 

and in 1645 it was óworthy of some regardô for both óbigness and handsomenessô. Credit for 

this must lie with the townôs founders. Already in 1614 Boyleôs leases included strict clauses 

requiring prompt compliance with various architectural specifications such as slated roofs 

with a particular number of stone or brick chimneys and in some cases timber -frame 

construction.  

The grid street layout seen on Jeffordôs plan never materialised within the town; there was 

certainly no sign of it by 1630. The townôs different sectors, based on the divisions between 

the leases to Newce and Shipward, shaped the original development of the town. The longer 
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leases of Newceôs northern area of Coolfadda allowed this area to be well-established by the 

time Boyle acquired the area. However by 1630, the larger southern part of the walled area 

was clearly the more important. All the major person alities associated with the beginning of 

the town help held property here and along with all the most notable traders and 

merchants. There were also two impressive gatehouses, the provostôs house, a school and 

the larger of the two market houses as well as Bandonôs longest continuous street.  

As a chartered borough Bandon had a provost, a portreeve and burgesses. Members were 

returned to the Irish parliament and there was also a clerk of the market and a merchant 

guild. The corporation established its own common council in 1622. As elsewhere in Ireland 

at this time civic government was vested in a small self -perpetuating elite. Burgesses 

included Newce, Shipward, Becher, Croft and Nicholas Blacknell who acted for some time as 

Boyleôs Bandon agent. Apart from its corporation, Bandon quickly acquired important 

juridical functions with courthouses on either side of the river, a market court, a court of 

record, a manor court, a court of dôoyer hundred, a prison and a marshalsea.  

Bandonôs unique structure, i.e. consisting of two self -contained towns within one area, 

explains its comparatively large population. The number of English inhabitants by 1641 has 

been estimated at 2,300. The main town was entirely Protestant (enforced by an early by -

law) but suburbs containing Iri sh households were to appear near the south town even 

before the walls were finished. Boyleôs rent roll of 1640s lists two Irish names amongst the 

170 recorded households. There was a fair turnover of the population but the character of 

Bandon was soon established and remained unchanged as a large inland market town with a 

predominance to those involved in the cloth business plus the usual traders and artisans. 

Few gentry chose to live there. 

At first all suburban housing development adjoining the walled to wn south of the river was 

embraced by the denomination Ballymodan. However, by 1623 the suburb in 

Cloghmacsimon townland had acquired the self-explanatory name of Irishtown. The majority 

of the residents had Gaelic surnames and were tenants at will. Many tenants also held small 

plots of land ranging from two to ten statute acres. These extra -mural suburbs were clearly 

different in character from the rest of Bandon, with little attention been given to organising 

them formally and most of the leases imposed no building stipulations. There is no evidence 

at this time of any residential expansion eastwards outside Watergate.  

The presence of an area known as óIrishtownô was a black mark against Boyleôs reputation 

as an English coloniser. Until the 1630s however, immigration to the area was not sufficient 

to provide an alternative between expelling the Irish or leaving the plots waste. However, by 

the late 1630s Boyleôs agent was contentedly reporting that he had a waiting list of 

Englishmen ready to move into the Irishtown suburb. These new settlers were prepared to 

construct óEnglishô houses ï usually defined as a dwelling with stone chimney and slated 

roof. Though some Irish were replaced by English families in the Ballymoden suburb, it is 

doubtful if all were re moved. However, within Bandon itself, Boyle could look with pleasure 

upon townsfolk all English or Protestant. 

Military defence was an important facet within the townôs development. Most of the early 

settlers were obliged to supply one or more footmen or h orsemen ófor the defence of the 
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fort at Coolfaddaô. After its defences had been completed Bandon became a convenient 

centre for the billeting and quartering of troops. This was greatly resented by the 

townspeople and their corporation as they were largely accountable for the cost of this. The 

practice intensified up to the rebellion of 1641 and its Cromwellian aftermath. The plentiful 

supply of water from the River Bandon and its tributaries provided a basis for the growth of 

many industrial pursuits. Among the workers recorded in the early seventeenth -century 

were bakers, blacksmiths, butchers, carpenters, chandlers, clothworkers, comb-makers, 

coopers, curriers, cutlers, dyers, feltmakers, glaziers, glovers, masons, metalmen, 

pewtermen, shoemakers, strainers, tailors, tanners, turners and weavers. These were the 

most numerous elements in Bandonôs early social structure.  

Trade was evidently the mainstay of the town and it was no accident that the most 

prominently-sited secular buildings were the market houses. Bandonôs industry and trade 

were dependent on the prosperity of agriculture in the surrounding countryside. The three 

prominent merchants were also major landholders and in addition many tenants combined 

their other occupations with part -time farming. Many residents of Coolfadda and Ballmodan 

held plots of land outside the walls, and within the town there were many óbacksidesô or 

gardens that may have been significant sources of food. Other primary activities were the 

fishery, the working of iron ore and  the quarrying of stone for the defences and other 

buildings of the town. Consequently the townôs principal exports were semi-processed or 

unprocessed agricultural materials such as corn, meat and butter, together with iron and 

pipestaves. Most of Bandonôs early seventeenth-century trade passed through the port of 

Kinsale, though later it fell increasingly under the influence of Cork.  

Bandonôs resident population must have made a significant contribution to the general 

development of the town. However, all  its major institutions and most of the public buildings 

were funded from one manôs vast financial resources, even if some of them were under 

construction before he bought the town. It was Boyle who paid for the completion of the 

two market houses, the pri son, the house of correction, the two churches, the marshalsea, 

the mills, the almshouses and the endowed school. The construction of the walls and 

gatehouses also owed much to his drive and capital. Thus, although he did not found the 

settlement at Bandon, Boyle must take the honours for providing much of the necessary 

impetus for its early prosperity and dynamism.  

Bandon After 1641 

The 1641 Rebellion broke out in the aftermath of  a bad harvest that autumn and within a 

threatening political climate. The initial aim was to rectify various grievances of Irish Catholic 

landowners; however the Rebellion soon led to indiscriminate attacks on the settler 

population of the Plantations. While the Rebellion effectively halted the Munster Plantation, 

the Rebellion was not as vicious here as it was in Ulster. The Rebellion was eventually 

crushed following the Cromwellian conquest in 1649 to 1653.  

Bandon was one of the best defended settlements in Munster before the 1641 Rebellion and 

with its new walls and gatehouses, its own militia and a substantial garrison it was to prove 

more than a match for its assailants. However, the effects of the rebellion were disastrous 

for Bandon. Sealed off from the sea, its hinterland devastated and the town flooded with 

refugees, it could no longer effectively function as a trading centre. Although it never fell to 
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the Irish and their allies, it became an enclave in what remained essentially a no manôs land 

until the arrival of Cromwell.  

In 1643 Boyle claimed that Bandon had a population of 7000, all of whom were English 

Protestants, however most of these were refugees. Outside the walls the Irish tenants were 

reported to have fled Irishtown and their cabins to have been torn down and by 1643 

Bandon was said to be so impoverished that most of its inhabitants were on the point of 

deserting it. However, there appears to have been little physical damage and Cromwell was 

said to have found the town in good health. The Down Survey maps of 1655 show the town 

walls, the bridge and several walls intact, but their scale is too small and their style too 

schematic to reveal whether the Bandon of this period could be regarded as a finished, 

populous and thriving settlement.  

The ócensusô of 1659 recorded a population of 846 at Bandon Bridge, 542 English and 304 

Irish. The Irish were presumably Catholics, a proof that Boyleôs ban on ópopish recusantsô 

was less effective than had been claimed. These people probably occupied back houses and 

cabins in various messuages or tenements of the walled town, for head tenants were rarely 

mentioned in early rent roles relating to this area. There were also 113 residents (40 English 

and 73 Irish) outside the walls in Irishtown and 118 (47 English and 71 Irish) in East Gully. 

The recorded total was therefore 1077 with  629 English and 448 Irish. Apply a multiplier of 

three and the population of Bandon and Irishtown was 3231.  

By the 1680s Bandon had recovered sufficiently for its prosperity and attractiveness to be 

described in glowing terms. Richard Coxôs account describes the town as óone of the neatest 

and healthiest towns in Ireland built within the memory of man, and walled about with a 

handsome and strong wall of lime and stone, and fortified by eleven flankers and three of 

the stateliest gatehouses or castles in any one town in Europe...ô 

Bandon received a new charter in 1688 but the rebellion and military campaigns of the next 

two years had adverse consequences on the town. Though removed from the main areas of 

fighting it was occupied by Jacobite troops and a tot al of 79 people are recorded as 

departing as refugees to Cork and later England. The town walls and their associated 

fortifications were said to have been destroyed by the Jacobite forces in 1689, though it is 

impossible to ascertain the exact scale of demolition. Given the level of survival today, 

demolition was clearly not complete. The fact that a country -wide levy was being considered 

shortly afterwards as a means to pay for the repair of the walls is testament to the way the 

event was seen locally, though it appears likely that this levy was never imposed and that no 

serious attempt was made to repair the damage. It is probable that the main gates of the 

town were at least partially destroyed at this time. They were omitted from Scal®ôs plan of 

1775, and when they figure in eighteenth - and nineteenth-century estate records it is 

apparently as locations rather than as actual buildings, 

No new streets of major public buildings were added to Bandonôs existing stock in the first 

half of the eighteenth centur y but to judge from the variety of occupations the functional 

structure of the town was becoming more complex. Numerous tanyards appeared in North 

Main Street, Kilbrogan Hill and Kilbrogan Street, probably attracted to the water of the 

Kilbrogan stream and by the steep slopes that would quickly remove the threat of pollution. 
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Associated with the tanning trade was a group of industries that included button makers, 

coopers, heelmakers, shoemakers, skinners and tailors. Next to tanning in importance were 

trades connected with cloth making such as cordwainers, glovers and weavers. 

Bandon was unique within Munster. No other plantation town was walled or constructed on 

such pattern. By the 1630s it had reached its maximum size in the pre -industrial age. Credit 

for the rapid growth should go to the foundersô sponsorship of clothworkers from the English 

West Country and to Boyle for providing it with unparalleled defences. The result can be 

seen after the rebellion in 1641 when Bandon marked the westward sphere of ne w English 

control in the wars that followed.  

 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL POTENTIAL 

Tobar Archaeological Services 

Establishing the archaeological potential of Bandon town wall is based on both an 

examination of the wall  itself and an analysis of all archaeological work undertaken adjacent 

to or across the line of the town defenses. It  draws together all archaeological information 

relevant to the town wall  including any previous archaeological surveys. 

Previous archaeological research, surveys and investigations 

Bandon town walls have not been subject to any detailed research in recent times. The main 

archaeological studies of Bandon and its walls that have been undertaken to date include 

The Historic Towns Atlas (Flanagan 1988), Avril Thomasô Walled Towns of Ireland (1992), 

The Cork volume of the Urban Archaeological Survey undertaken in 1995 (OPW) and the 

Archaeological Survey of Ireland Volume 1 ï West Cork (Power et al., 1997). With a lack of 

recent research on Bandon town wall, any further information may only be glea ned from 

archaeological investigations undertaken across the line of the wall or within close proximity 

to same. This section presents all available evidence from previous surveys of the wall. 

 

Historic Towns Atlas ( OôFlanagan 1988)   

The town defenses are discussed in detail by OôFlanagan (1988) however his discussion is 

based on available cartographic evidence only and not on a physical survey of the wall. 

When discussing the town defenses OôFlanagan notes that Hardimanôs 1613 map of the 

planned walled town of Bandon depicts a fort within the north -eastern quadrant of the town.  

The fort is named as óCarewôs old fortô and according to OôFlanagan (ibid., 2) probably dates 

to Sir George Carewôs tenure of the office of lord president of Munster in the early 1600s. 

The church and graveyard of Christ Church now occupy the site of the fort of which no 

upstanding remains survive. Large angle bastions were said to have been located in the SW 

and NW corners and this accords with Hardimanôs map of 1613.  

In relation to the town defenses OôFlanagan notes that Hardimanôs map of 1613 of the 

northern side of the town, north of the Bandon River, shows angle bastions at the NE and 

NW, flanker, postern gates, gatehouses, battlements and a rampart. OôFlanagan also notes 
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Hardiman's 1620 (41 and 42) maps which show walls on both sides of the river Bandon with 

main gates, postern gates, bastions, flankers and battlements. According to OôFlanagan 

(1988, 11 after Bennett, 67) 27 acres were enclosed by the walls. He ( ibid) also notes that 

the river defenses consisted of iron flood gates. The Down Survey map of 1655 shows that 

the walls, gates and bastions had been competed by this date. Flanagan (ibid after Connolly 

57) notes that the walls were destroyed by Jacobite forces in 1689.  Part of the eastern 

section of the town wall between the River Bandon and Pearse Street (then Castle Street) 

was, however, still extant in 1750 ( ibid., after RESB in RIA). It is likely that this was 

subsequently destroyed when St Finbarrôs Place was constructed. 

 

Avril Thomasôs Walled Towns of Ireland 

Thomasô description of the walls also utilises the same documentary and cartographic 

sources as OôFlanagan (1988) and in this regard their physical description is similar and will 

not be repeated here. One of the main problems, as Thomas (1992, 22-23) notes, with 

tracing the circuit of the town walls today is that the actual life of the walled town barely 

reached 70 years. The destruction of the town defenses in 1689/90 is almost certain to have 

been only partial deconstruction. Thomas (ibid) also notes the lack of consistency between 

the 1613 and 1620 maps of the town and the reality of what was eventually built. The 

earlier map of 1613 shows the angle towers as having a much more 17 th century 

appearance with large angles at the corners, similar to those in Waterford and Derry. The 

1620 maps show the bastions as much smaller circular towers and as Thomas notes (ibid, 

23) may have been cheaper to build. The regular grid system appearing on the 1613 and 

1620 maps are similar in their own right and perhaps similar to the south side of the town 

walls today or as depicted on the later OS maps. The north side, however, in reality does 

not reflect the óblueprintô as shown on the earlier maps. It seems reasonable to suggest, 

therefore, that the north side of the town was not built as planned and depicted on the 

earlier maps. The angle the wall takes around Christ Church in the north -eastern corner is 

certainly not depicted on any early maps. According to Thomas tracing the walls along the 

southern side of the town is less problematic as it is closer to the original blueprints of 1613 

and 1620. This is also perhaps because the street pattern is largely simpler and orientated 

East/West. South Main Street would have directly linked the East Gate with the West Gate 

and the south wall would also have been orientated in an East/West direction. According to 

Thomas, the 19th century railway ran just to the south of the surviving sections of town wall 

in this location ( Figure 5). 

The only irregularity in the southern side of the walled town today when compared to the 

earlier blueprints is the angle the wall takes around Ballymodan Church in the south western 

corner.  

In conclusion, the Bandon walls differ f rom the majority of walled towns in that their drawn 

plans differ from the actual surviving remains which may be reflective of the difficulties in 

acquiring lands or finance. Also, the preference for limestone as a raw material is evident 

from the majority  of walled towns in Ireland. Bandon, however, is an exception as it was 

constructed of óthick black slateô. This is also reflective of the need to use the more 

economic, available raw materials. 
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Figure 5: Extract from 2 nd  Edition  OS map showing railway line to south of surviving town wall.  

 

The Urban Archaeological Survey of County Cork  

The circuit of Bandon town wall was visited in 1994 by the Urban Archaeological survey 

team. They concluded that sufficient evidence was present to suggest its original circuit. The 

summary account describes the southern edge of the town as being particularly prominent 

ówhere a high flat topped wall (H. 4m) forms the boundary between property plots and a 

narrow laneway and partially encloses St Peterôs Church and graveyardôô (Figure 5). This was 

recently confirmed by survey work carried out by the authors, although the wall has 

deteriorated substantially since then and has been rebuilt with concrete blocks in places 

along the southern laneway. Zajac et al also describe the wall as surviving along the 

northern edge of the town around Christ Church (present day Heritage Centre) and in places 

along the western perimeter of the town. No description is given for the eastern side o f the 

town perhaps due to the lack of cartographic evidence and the building of St Finbarrôs Place 

which would have resulted in the destruction of the eastern perimeter wall.  

The Archaeological Invent ory of West Cork, Volume 1, 1992   

The wall is described below according to the description in the published Inventory Series 

(Power et al 1992) and  the archaeological survey field notes which were consulted in the 

National Monuments Service Archive, Abbey St., Dublin. The wall is described according to 

its location at the North, South, East and West for clarity.  
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NORTH WALL 

According to Power et al (1992), no trace of the town wall survives in the northern portion 

of the town apart from a small section of a wall to the rear of a house on the east side of 

North Main Street. This description is somewhat sketchy and the location of the short 

upstanding portion of wall at the east side of North Main Street is not pin -pointed. Power 

(ibid) also refers to a possible core (of the town wall) surviving within the north  boundary 

wall of the graveyard at Christ Church. According to the survey field notes, the n orth 

retaining wall of Christ Church had a maximum internal height 1.7 0m with the external 

height dropping down to 5m where the ground slopes off to the stream. The external 

elevation was not surveyed. Of note here is the vast difference of the internal wall height in 

1990 during the survey inspection and the height of the existing wall today , albeit a rebuilt 

wall along the original line  of the town defences. A significant level of collapse or 

degradation has taken place over the 20 year period as the wall height no longer reaches 

1.7m internally (see physical description below). There are two sections set back / rebated 

as partly indicated on OôFlanaganôs Map No 2, 1988. According to the archaeological field 

notes no trace of the original town wa ll survives here but may be extant  at the base.  
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Figure 6: Extract from OôFlanaganôs map No. 2 (1988) showing line of town wall circuit. 

Section of wall extending from eastern corner of Christ Church in an easterly direction.  

According to the archaeological survey field notes, the defensive wall survives in this 

location. It can be examined in the rear of a private yard. A later wall is built on the  outer 

edge of the defensive wall.  

SOUTH WALL  

According to Power (ibid) the southern side of the town has more extensive surviving 

remains. Two sections of wall survive between Casement Road and Patrickôs Hill (south-

eastern corner of town wall). It is l ikely that most of the south wall is replaced by a late r 

wall along the same line. He suggests that an original section ( c. 20m long) may be located 



38 
  

on the steps up to the Catholic Church from Market Street. Another section of the town wall 

is located along the E side of Church Street (approximately 24m in length).The east, south 

and west walls of St Peterôs Church and graveyard are also along the line of the wall and a  

base batter on the south wall here may be an original feature.  

Wall in south-eastern corner (rear of Private Property).  

This is described as a boundary wall at rear of garden running north -south for 11.5m; 

internal height 3.4m; height c. 0.2m and wall thickness c.0.5m. Remains of plinth (0.25m 

wide) at north end are possibly the remains of thicker walls. Built of blocky sandstone 

random rubble with soft lime mortar.  

Wall extending from south-eastern corner in a westerly direction.  

According to the field survey notes this is a multi -period wall but is likely to be built on top 

of the origina l line of the town defences. This wall continues in various states of 

preservation as it extends as far as the Mill building (Cavendish Quay) on St Patricks Quay.   

Northern eastern section of Church Street (opposite Mill building).  

The town wall survives as the southern boundary to a garage in this location measuring 

1.4m wide. No trace of the wall beyond this until it reaches the graveyard wall.  

South boundary wall to Ballymodan Church and Graveyard (St Peterȭs Church).  

This wall has a base batter which is likely to be original. It has been r ebuilt on top however. 

At the eastern end of this southern wall, there is a possible projecting flanker.  

WEST WALL   

It is suggested that the best preserved sections of the town wall are along the west side 

where 2 lengths of wall extend south from the ri ver bank. A length of 18m (wall thickness 

(2.75m), a 5.5m gap and then a 70m stretch of wall (thickness 3.5m) running in a SW 

direction. A wall walk is also evident in this location.  This is adjacent to the Garda Station 

and beneath the present-day Riverview Shopping Centre complex which had not been 

constructed when the survey by Power et al took place.  

(ÁÍÉÌÔÏÎȭÓ ,ÁÎÅ ɀ north of Ballymodan Church (St Peterȭs Church). 

The line of the wall in this location extends north on the east side of Hamiltonôs Lane 

(Flanagan 1988, Historic Towns Atlas Map No. 2). The wall was ivy-clad, 2m high and 0.60m 

thick. The boundary wall is built on the line of the defensive walls in this location. Part of the 

wall may be included in west gable wall (ground floor level) of roadside house at sout h end 

of east side of Hamiltonôs Lane. This is now plastered over and not possible to examine. 

Wall along western side of site of old Barracks (north-western corner).  

A high boundary stone wall c. 40-50cm thick is located here and is not thought to be part of 

the defensive walls. The wall extends north from river back up the hill towards the barracks. 

Part of this wall is the west wall of the Riding Grounds as indicated on Pat Flanaganôs 

map/1st Ed OS. The west wall of the barracks, now a garage Trunwits transport yard , has an 

interesting vaulted room/passage on the inside of the boundary wall ï this was not surveyed 

internally. It is not likely to have anything to do with the defensive walls and was most likely 

related to the barracks.    
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EAST WALL  

The eastern section of the town  wall is not addressed in the published Archaeological 

Inventory. The survey field notes, however, describe a  portion of the wall which survives 

behind the post office yard to 4m high in the northeast ern corner of the town defenses .  

Section of wall south of the Bridewell River 

This is described in the field notes as being óblocky rubble constructionô with small gardens 

to west and larger garden to east , perpendicular to wall. The wall width in this location was 

1.4m wide. 

 

Archaeological Excavations along the Town Wall and within the Historic Core 

A dataset of information pertaining to archaeological  excavations undertaken in the county is 

held in Cork County Council. The dataset was provided to Tobar for purposes of this plan. It 

contains GIS data as well as summary information for each site at which archaeological 

excavations took place, be it monitoring, testing or full scale excavation . In conjunction with 

this the database of excavation bulletins which contains summary information on all licensed 

excavations undertaken in Ireland between 1997 and 2008 was also consulted.  

All excavations undertaken within close proximity to the town are included here and are 

summarised in Table 1. Summarised accounts of the findings of these excavations are 

presented in Appendix 2. The excavations outlined below are those which were carried out 

between 1997 and the present although no licensed excavations (testing or monitoring) 

appear to have been undertaken between 2008 and 2012 (Bennett pers. comm.). This may 

be reflective of the economic downturn and consequent lack of development taking place 

within the town and its environs. It is also possible that supervisory work such as 

archaeological monitoring was undertaken without an excavation license in place.  

One of the main pieces of archaeological work carried out at or near to the town wall was 

between 2000 and 2003 when a site south of the river and west of McSwiney Quay was 

redeveloped for the Riverside Shopping Centre. As part of this work five archaeological test 

trenches were excavated adjacent to or across the line of the town wall ï both upstanding 

and sub-surface (Hurley, 2000 and Lane, 2002). The testing served to confirm the presence 

of the sub-surface wall where it was no longer visible above ground and also established 

that it changed substantially in width from the north -east to the south -west; from c. 2.5m 

wide to 1.5m wide. The redevelopment of this site also resulted in consolidation of the town 

wall as well as a significant amount of rebuilding over original masonry. This rebuilding is 

evident in Sections 1 and 2 of the town wall circuit as described below.   

The most recent archaeological investigations relating to the town wall was the programme 

of archaeological testing carried out as part of the Bandon Sewerage Scheme Stage 2 

(Tobar Archaeological Services May-September 2012). Nine test trenches were excavated 

along the line of the proposed service trench where it intersected with the suspected line of 

the town d efences. This work was undertaken under Ministerial Consent (C535) and was 

completed in September 2012. Evidence for the possible foundation of the town wall was 

uncovered in two locations at Emmet Row and Bank Place, with the lower courses of the 
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wall of a possible seventeenth century structure also uncovered at the east end of Pearse 

Street. In addition, seventeenth century cobbled street surfaces were uncovered inside the 

town walls at Pearse Street and OôMahony Ave./Ballymodan Place.   

 

Table 1: Archaeological e xcavations within Bandon from 1997 to present  

Excavation No.  Location  Type of excavation  Archaeology found?  Details of 
archaeology  

97E2064  South Main Street / 
Market Quay 

Testing No None 

98E0503  Cloghmacsimon Testing adjacent to 

outer face of Town 
Wall in advance of 
housing Development 

No No 

99E0158  McSwiney Quay on 

site of Scott Factory 

Testing in advance of 

housing and retail 

No 18th-19th century 

pottery  

00D0023  Kilmacsimon Quay ï 
Bandon River 

Intertidal Survey in 
advance of watermain 

crossing river Bandon 

in area of 2 fish weirs  

No None 

00D0080  Kilmacsimon Quay ï 
Bandon River 

Underwater and Metal 
Detection Survey in 

advance of water main 
crossing river  

No No 

00E0614  Chapel Lane 17 test trenches 

excavated near to 
CO110-40 Quaker 
Burial Ground 

No No 

00E0857  

 

Gully  Testing abutting town 

wall CO110-19/01 as 
part of Shopping 
Centre Town Wall 
Conservation Strategy 

Yes Town wall found to be 

2.47m in width and 
1.7-1.9m below 
present ground level. 

00E0857   Testing remainder of 
town wall as part of 
shopping centre 

Yes Base of town wall 
found at 1.9m below 
present ground level. 
Wall measured 1.5m in 

this location. 

00E0857 Ext  Gully Monitoring of works 
near to town wall as 

part of shopping 
centre.  

No. Wall was rebuilt where 
necessary with rubble 

masonry and lime 
mortar as 
recommended in 
Conservation Strategy 

Report (John Cronin) 

02E0030  Knockbrogan Testing outside NE 

angle of Town Wall 
CO110-19/01 ï 

construction of 3 
houses 

No No 

02E0791  McSweeney Quay Planning 01/1815 Raft 

Foundation for 2 
storey Dwelling 

No No 

02E1077  16 South Main Street Testing in advance of 
Pharmacy and 

extension. 

No  Natural clay 
encountered at 0.7m 

in depth 

02E1571  Gully Patricks Hill / 
Patricks Quay 

Testing in advance of 
office buildings 
adjacent to the 

projected line of the 
eastern line of the 
town wall.  

No Site disturbed by ESB 
transformer and 
ducting. 

02E1756  McSweeney Quay Testing in advance of 
fourteen apartments  

No  Modern fill to 0 .9, 
1.2m of ógarden soilô 

overlying natural. No 
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artefacts or features. 

02E1757  McSweeney Quay Testing in advance of 
ten apartments and 2 
commercial units.  

No?  0.9m of builders 
rubble. 0.65m of 
ógarden soilô containing 
slate, pottery, glass, 

animal bone and 

oyster shell. 

00E0857 ext (2003)  Gully  adjacent to 
Caulfieldôs Shopping 

Centre 

Monitoring during 
2003 season of ground 

works on site of 
Supervalu shopping 
centre 

No For public safety and 
for protection of the 

town wall, metal 
guardrails were 
erected, to the south 
of a sally port in the 

quay wall and at other 
locations. The ground 
along the west face of 
the town wall, within 
the development site 

and to the south of 
the quay wall, was 
landscaped and 
planted with suitable 

shrubs. 
 

03E0026  Cloghmasimon Testing in advance of 

a dwelling 

No Site of bottle store. 

Glass bottles founds to 
depth of 1.25m.  

03E1753  Market Quay 
Cloghmacsimon 

Testing in advance of 
retail units and 

apartments 

No Stone-lined coal 
bunker found.  

03E1889  79/81 South Main 
Street 

Monitoring of ground 
disturbance in advance 

of building 

No 0.7m of r ubble overlay 
a natural orange clay 

04E0388  The Shambles 
Coolfadda 

Testing in advance of 
residential unit within 
Shambles Buildings 

across line of town 
wall. 

No No trace of town wall 
uncovered. Modern fill 
to depth of 0.9m.  

04E1221  19/20 South Main 
Street 

Monitoring No No 

04E1668  26/27 South Main 
Street 

Testing (1 test trench)  No No 

04E1668  26/27 South Main 
Street 

Testing in 2005, same 
site as above 

No No 

05E0170  96 South Main Street Testing to rear of 96 
Main Street 

No No 

05E0578  Kilbrogan Monitoring in vicinity 
of CO110-031 
graveyard for ESB 
communications site 

No No 

05E0882  6 Pearse Street Testing No 19th century pottery  

05E1012  North Main Street Monitoring No No 

06D0073  
06R0169  

Bandon River ï 
upstream from Bandon 
Bridge 

Underwater Survey No No 

06E0731  Emmet Row / North 
Main Street 

Testing  No No 

06E1033  Kilbrogan Hill Testing No Deposits of rubble 
were noted mixed with 

animal bone and 
sherds of post 
medieval ceramics 
suggesting that the 

site was used as a 
dumping area for the 
nearby tanneries 

06E0904  Gully Coolfadda Monitoring of Pipe 

Installation in River 
Bandon 

No No 

07E0609  Church Street Testing No No 
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08E0973  Bandon Community 
Hospital 

Testing within site of 
former Union 

Workhouse CO110-026 

  

12E0111  Bridge Lane Car Park Testing in advance of 
Pumping Station 2 ï 

Bandon Sewerage 

Scheme 

Yes Stone wall possibly 
part of 19 th century 

house (rear). Natural 

subsoil encountered at 
1.4m in depth ï 
modern rubble fill 
abutting wall to east.  

12E0111  
C535  

Allen Square Testing (Trench 1) to 
north of lin e of town 
wall 

No No 

12E0111  
C535  

Emmet Row Testing (Trench 2) 
across line of town 
wall 

Yes Base / footing of  black 
slate wall at a depth of 
0.27m. 1.8m in width.  

12E0111  
C535  

Kilbrogan Hill Testing (Trench 3) 
across line of town 
wall / north Gate  

No Modern services 
resulted in disturbance 
or trench was 
excavated through 

gate. 

12E0111  
C535  

Bank Place / North 
Main Street 

Testing (Trench 4) 
across line of town 
wall 

Yes Black slate / shale wall 
footing in line with 
town wall at 0.7m in 

depth, 2.4m wide. 
Stone wall (possible 
house front) with 17 th 
C. pottery within fill. 

Stone drain. 

12E0111  
C535  

McSweeney Quay / St 
Finbarrôs Place 

Testing (Trench 5) 
across line of town 
wall 

No Modern disturbance 
due to existing 
services 

12E0111  
C535  

Pearse Street Testing (Trench 6) 
across line of wall, 
vicinity of west g ate 

Yes 17th century cobbled 
street surface at 0.6m 
below present ground 

level. Section of wall 
foundation. Late 15 th / 
Early 16th century 
pottery. Possible gate 
foundations.  

12E0111  
C535  

Bridge Lane Testing (Trench 7) 
within historic town  

Yes Possible 18th / 19 th 
century walls, stone 
drain and earlier stone 

surfaces. 

12E0111  
C535  

St Patricks Place Testing (Trench 8) 
across line of town 
wall 

Not excavated in full 
due to presence of 
modern services. 

No 

12E0111  
C535  

Oô Mahoney Avenue / 
Ballymodan Place 

Testing (Trench 9) 
across line of town 
wall 

Yes Rubble fill over 17th 
century cobbles. 17th 
century pottery.  
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Figure 7: Locations of excavations undertaken within historic to wn prior to 2012.  
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Figure 8: Excavations undertaken along the suspected line of the town wall in 2012 by Tobar 
Archaeological Services . 
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Significance of Archaeological Potential 

Forty three excavations / investigations were undertaken in Bandon town between 1997 and 

2012, mainly within the historic core or adjacent to the town defences. Only eight of these 

produced archaeologically positive results representing 18.6% of the total. The majority of 

the archaeologically positive results were obtained from the archaeological testing 

undertaken in advance of the development of the Riverside Shopping Centre and more 

recent testing undertaken as part of the  Bandon Sewerage Scheme Stage 2. The 

aforementioned test trenches were located on public roads, primarily within the historic core 

of the town where the potential for uncovering in situ archaeological features and deposits 

was relatively high. In this regard it should be noted that many of the remaining test 

excavations and monitoring activity listed in Table 1 were located in sites which had been 

significantly disturbed by later buildings and services. The lack of positive archaeological 

results from such investigations does not therefore preclude the presence of archaeological 

strata in these areas but perhaps provides a reason why such material was not found.  

The results of the archaeological testing carried out as part of the Bandon Sewerage 

Scheme (Stage 2) clearly demonstrates that the historic core of the town retains at least 

some of its original 17 th century street surfaces, wall foundations and tentative evidence for 

the sub-surface town wall. The testing has also reiterated the artefact bearing potential of 

buried strata within the historic core of the town relating to its fou ndation and occupation in 

the seventeenth century. Significantly, direct evidence for activity south of the river in the 

century preceding the formal establishment of the town was uncovered in the form of the 

so-called óTransition  Wareô pottery which dates to the late 15 th / early 16 th century 

(McCutcheon, pers. comm. and Carroll and Quinn, Testing report Bandon Sewerage Scheme 

Stage 2, 2012).  

In summary, therefore it is noteworthy that while a cursory look at the results of 

archaeological investigations in Bandon since the 1990s could be interpreted as meaning a 

low archaeological potential for the town, recent investigations would refute that 

interpretation. It is clear that archaeological potential within the historic core remains high , 

but only where l ater and modern intervention has not had a direct, negative impact on in 

situ deposits. 

The archaeological potential of the town walls themselves, however, has not been informed 

significantly by such archaeological investigations. Tentative evidence for the surviving 

remains of two sub-surface elements of the wall foundation within the public road on Emmet 

Row and Bank Place was uncovered during the recent archaeological testing for the Bandon 

Sewerage Scheme (Carroll and Quinn, 2012) as was a foundation for a possible gate at the 

east end of Pearse Street. Overall, however, the investigations at the presumed locations of 

the town wall were somewhat disappointing in that little new evidence for the wall or 

associated structures such as gates or towers was uncovered. With this in mind it should 

also be noted that by its very nature archaeological testing is limited in terms of the size of 

area opened up for investigation and it terms of the raison dôetre for the testing. For 

example, to date all of the investi gations carried out in Bandon at or near to the line of the 

town wall have been development driven and in that regard were undertaken to fulfil a 

planning requirement or recommendation of the DoAHG. While the results of such 
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investigation may be informativ e and add to the knowledge base regarding 17 th century 

Bandon and itôs walls, it is limited in terms of research agendas and in obtaining specific 

information in response to specific research questions.     

As a result of research conducted for this plan a vacant site at the west side of the town 

(adjacent to Riverside Shopping Centre), through which the line of the town wall is believed 

to extend (Section 4), was highlighted as an area of potential in terms of its suitability to 

conduct future archaeological investigations across the line of the wall with a view to the 

possibility of its ultimate public presentation. Inspection of the site, however, determined 

that ground works carried out on the site have resulted in a significant reduction in ground 

level and the likely obliteration of the sub -surface remains of the town wall. The 

archaeological potential along the course of the town wall is difficult to fully determine given 

that much of the wall or line of the wall is in private property and is therefore  either not 

available for inspection/survey or has been incorporated into modern property 

boundaries/developments. As outlined above, testing within the walls has established the 

survival of archaeological deposits where modern development or services have not already 

directly impacted. The potential for surviving archaeological deposits or features at or 

directly within/without the town wall may already be compromised by the expansion of the 

town beyond the limits of the wall in the 18 th, 19th and 20th centuries, particularly at the east 

side of the town where it is not possible to trace the line of the wall in any form north of the 

Bridewell River as far as Bank Place.  

Nonetheless, areas of archaeological potential may still be identified where future 

investigation could shed light on the wall, either upstanding or sub -surface, and associated 

defensive features such as the fosse which is thought by some to have extended outside the 

wall in certain areas around the town. Of note are the relatively few green  areas which abut 

the line of the town wall, in particular those at the north -west and north -east side of the 

town. At the west side if of the town, north of the Bandon River, a c. 100m stretch of 

property boundary which extends on the line of the wall is bou nded by undeveloped 

greenfield sites. By their very nature green field sites are frequently relatively undisturbed 

and therefore have the potential to yield in situ archaeological deposits and features. This 

may be the case at the west side of the town whe re undeveloped pasture land bounds the 

line of the town wall. Similarly, undeveloped land bounds the line of the wall north of Christ 

Church and further to the east. Archaeological investigation at such locations may have the 

potential to produce further i nformation regarding the town defences , and may serve to 

answer specific questions regarding the nature of the surviving wall and associated 

defensive features.             
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Chapter Three 

3. PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION AND SURVEY OF THE 

TOWN WALLS  
Tobar Archaeological Services 

This section details the results of the physical survey of Bandon town wall undertaken by 

Tobar Archaeological Services and Landmark Survey (mapping). The circuit of the town wall, 

regardless of its survival above-ground or whether replaced by a later wall, is described 

according to Section number for ease of interpretation ( Figure 9).  
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Figure 9: Key map of town wall circuit showing numbered sections.  

 

 



49 
  

Section 1: West Wall between River Bandon and McSweeney Quay 

This short section of wall is located to the north of the access road into The Riverside 

Shopping Centre and is adjacent to t he River Bandon. It measures 11.5m in length, 2.6m in 

width and stands to varying heights (max. 2.15m external west face). It is comprised of a c. 

2.6m wide wall atop which is a narrow east and west face. The western wall face is concrete 

capped and decreases in height towards the north. It is possible to walk within the central 

core of the wall at this lo cation which measures 1.8m in width ( Plate 1). The wall is 

constructed of mortar bonded shale slabs and blocks which are laid in rough courses and 

has been refaced at its southern end immediately north of the public road. This sec tion of 

wall is located at the east end of a narrow riverbank walk which is bound to the south by an 

earthen bank. The latter was constructed as part of the adjacent Riverview Shopping Centre 

development in the early 2000ôs and now abuts the west face of the wall (See Appendix 3 

for Record Elevation Drawings of Sections 1 and 2 ï Courtesy of Sheila Lane and 

Associates). Associated with the walk and bank are metal railings and concrete steps which 

form an access/egress point for the walk (Plate 4). The railings are located a short distance 

west of the town wall. Also abutting the west face of the wall is a litter bin ( Plate 2). The 

east face of the wall was not accessible due to its overgrown nature and a sh arp drop at this 

side of the wall. A significant quantity of rubbish has accumulated adjacent to the east wall 

face. Despite the inappropriate modern intervention to its immediate surroundings (railings, 

litter bin and rubbish ) pleasant views over the river Bandon can be enjoyed from this 

location. This section of the town wall was subject to consolidation and conservation works 

which were carried out c. 2002-3 as a result of the adjacent Riverview Shopping Centre 

development.  

 

Plate 1: Town wall Section 1, looking north.  
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Plate 2: West (external) face of Section 1, note location of litter bin  and earthen bank to right.  

 

Plate 3: Detail of west elevation, Section 1.  



51 
  

 

Plate 4: Concrete steps and metal railings to west of Section 1, looking north -east.  

 

Section 2: Wall to rear of Garda Station and Caulfield Shopping Centre 

Section 2 comprises a 70m length of wall which extends in a north -east/south-west direction 

from the south side of the public road into Caulfield Shopping Centre as far as the modern 

shopping centre building. It forms the rear property boundary to the Garda Station and 

separates the latter from the shopping centre complex. This section of the town wall was 

largely rebuilt on foot of a Conservation Strategy Plan for the wall undertaken by John 

Cronin as part of the redevelopment of this area into the Caulfield Sho pping Centre in the 

early 2000s (See Appendix 3 for Record Elevation Drawings of Sections 1 and 2 ï Courtesy 

of Sheila Lane and Associates).  

Section 2 is best viewed from the Garda Station car park where the east (internal) face of 

the original wall can be seen beneath the rebuilt wall ( Plate 6). The wall is iv y-covered in 

places, however, limiting visual inspection of the structure in this area. The north -east end 

of Section 2, where visible, would appear to be original and is constructed of roughly 

coursed shale slabs. Modern intervention and repair is apparent in places where the wall has 

been repointed and concrete has been utilised. The change in masonry and building 

technique associated with the modern rebuilding of the wall is profoundly obvious when 

viewed from the Garda Station car park ( Plate 5).  
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Plate 5: Modern rebuild of east (internal) elevation of Section 2 from Garda Station car park, 
looking west.  

  

Further to the south -west the original town wall can be seen directly underlying the rebuilt 

section of wall ( Plate 6 and Plate 7). It is constructed using thin mortar -bonded shale slabs 

and survives to varying heights (0.55m -1.22m-1.57m), although it rises gradually to the 

south-west where it reaches almost full height (2.36m) where it abuts the shopping centre 

building. At this point the original wall is in a poor state of preservation and masonry 

collapse is apparent (Plate 8).  

 

Plate 6: East (inte rnal) elevation of original town wall beneath modern rebuild.  
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Plate 7: Original wall surviving to varying heights beneath modern rebuild (East elevation).  



54 
  

 

Plate 8: Original town wall (east elevation) whe re it is abutted by shopping centre building ï note 
collapsed masonry.  

 

Very little original fabric is apparent on the west (external) elevation of the town wall in 

Section 2 as much of this stretch of wall has been rebuilt. Furthermore, landscaping 

associated with the Caulfield Shopping Centre now obscures much of the western wall face 

(Plate 11). A short length ( c. 9.7m) of possible original wall is visible extending up to the 

entrance door of the shopping centre ( Plate 9). This portion of the wall is constructed of 

medium to large shale slabs and blocks and modern repair/rebuild is visible where it adjoins 

the shopping centre building ( Plate 10). It measures 1.65m in height.  
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Plate 9: Possible original portion of original wall face (west elevation) at south -west end of Section 
2.  

 

Plate 10 : West elevation of wall where it adjoins shopping centre building.  

 






















































































































































































































































